**RECEIVED**  
**Jan 20 2026**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000867  
Unpublished Opinion No. 2008-UP-273

---

Lynda H. Johnson, Charles S. Giannone, and Sea Pines Resort, LLC, ..... Petitioners,

v.

Bittmint, LLC and Harbour Town Surf Shop, LLC, ..... Respondents.

---

**PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

G. Trenholm Walker (S.C. Bar #5777)  
John P. Linton, Jr. (S.C. Bar #79130)  
WALKER GRESSETTE & LINTON, LLC  
P.O. Box 22167  
Charleston, SC 29413  
T: (843) 727-2208  
F: (843) 272-2238

### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Did the Court of Appeals err by reversing the circuit court’s grant of direct verdict when Bittmint<sup>1</sup> presented no evidence at trial to support its allegation that Sea Pines is not the holder of a right of first refusal and the only evidence offered was that Sea Pines is the holder of the right of first refusal?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err by reversing the circuit court’s grant of direct verdict when the undisputed evidence at trial established that Sea Pines exercised the right of first refusal within fifteen (15) days of receiving written notice of the price and terms of Bittmint’s proposed purchase and the right of first refusal explicitly provides that the right of first refusal may be exercised within thirty (30) days of receipt of “written notice of the price and terms” of the “highest bona fide offer”?

### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR GRANTING A WRIT OF CERTIORARI IN THIS CASE**

Trial is when the rubber meets the road. A plaintiff can no longer rest on its allegations—proof is required. When a plaintiff fails to put up any proof of its case, the court has a responsibility to grant a directed verdict. As explained below, this case involves the exercise of a right of first refusal in 2017 by Petitioner Sea Pines Resort, LLC. At trial, Bittmint failed to offer evidence supporting its allegation that Sea Pines is not the holder of the right of first refusal that Sea Pines exercised. Instead, Bittmint offered a smattering of half-baked legal theories.<sup>2</sup> There was no

---

<sup>1</sup> References to Bittmint, LLC or Respondent(s) are intended to encompass both Respondents to the extent Harbour Town Surf Shop, LLC maintains it did not abandon its appeal at the Court of Appeals. See *State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. 354, 363, 714 S.E.2d 554, 558 (Ct. App. 2011) (explaining an issue is abandoned on appeal if not raised in a brief and supported by authority).

<sup>2</sup> One of the primary legal theories asserted was that the right of first refusal was void pursuant to the common law rule against perpetuities. That argument was recently rejected by this court in *Spring Valley Interests, LLC v. Best for Last, LLC*, Op. No. 28309 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Jan. 7,

testimony or documentary evidence supporting the allegation that Sea Pines is not the holder of the right of first refusal. The only testimony was that Sea Pines is the holder of that right. The circuit court agreed.

The Court of Appeals reversed, finding there was a disputed factual issue based primarily on the testimony of Bittmint's lawyer that "[t]here [we]re a number of issues presented by the exercise of the option, including a determination of exactly what rights Sea Pines has, if any, and how those rights are to be exercised." (**Opinion, p. 11**). As explained in more detail below, this testimony of the personal opinion of the single fact witness does not create a factual issue for determination by the jury in the face of the clear and unambiguous wording of the covenant provision governing the right of first refusal and the uncontradicted proof that Sea Pines exercised the right in compliance with the covenant's terms. Even the quote the Court of Appeals handpicked to highlight in its decision states that Sea Pines may be the holder of the right of first refusal. In other words, it is not contradictory evidence. It is simply a loose generalization by a lawyer that was not supported by the actual evidence which showed Sea Pines exercised the right in strict conformance with the governing provision in the applicable covenants. Trial is the time for proof supporting the facts argued by a party, not musings about what the issues might be.

The second holding by the Court of Appeals was equally flawed. The right of first refusal required it be exercised within thirty (30) days of receipt of written notice of the proposed transaction's "price and terms." The only evidence at trial was that, in full recognition of Sea Pines' right of first refusal, *Bittmint's counsel* sent Sea Pines a request that it waive its right of first

---

2026) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 1 at 16) ("We hold the SCUSRAP cannot be reasonably construed in a manner that preserves the CLRAP."). One of the other theories posited by Bittmint was an argument that right of first refusal was personal and unassignable.

refusal and then provided the contract so that Sea Pines would have written notice of the price and terms of the proposed transaction. There is no proof that Sea Pines had knowledge of the price *and* the terms of the proposed sale until then. The only evidence is that Sea Pines exercised the right and closed on its purchase within fifteen (15) days of that written notice sent by Bittmint.

For these important reasons and those below, Petitioners hereby petition this Court for a writ of certiorari and a ruling reversing the Court of Appeals.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **I. Factual background**

This appeal arises from a commercial real estate transaction within Sea Pines Plantation on Hilton Head Island. Respondent Bittmint, LLC (“Bittmint”), contracted to purchase two commercial real estate condominium units (the “Property”) owned by Petitioners Lynda H. Johnson and Charles S. Giannone (Johnson and Giannone are together, “Sellers”) for \$580,000.00 (the “Contract for Sale”). (**R. p. 1151**). These two commercial units, located in Harbour Town, lie in the heart of the Sea Pines resort. After contracting to buy the Property, Bittmint offered the Property for sale to Petitioner Sea Pines Resort, LLC (“Sea Pines”) (together, with Sellers, “Petitioners”) on the same terms and requested Sea Pines waive its right of first refusal. Within fifteen (15) days of receiving Bittmint’s offer and waiver request, Sea Pines accepted Bittmint’s offer and exercised its right of first refusal, closing on the purchase of the Property soon thereafter.

As explained more below, all parties understood Sea Pines possesses a right of first refusal for commercial property sold on Hilton Head Island, as established by real property covenants

recorded in 1973 (the “1973 Covenants”).<sup>3</sup> Section 19 of the 1973 Covenants sets forth Sea Pines’ right of first refusal in clear and unequivocal terms as follows:

In the event the owner desires to sell a Commercial Property site on Hilton Head Island together with its improvements, if any, then said property shall be offered for sale to the Company at the same price at which the highest bona fide offer has been made for the property, and the said Company shall have thirty (30) days within which to exercise its option to purchase said property at this price, and should the Company fail or refuse, within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of the price and terms, to exercise its options to purchase said property at the offered price, then the owner of said property shall have the right to sell said property, subject, however, to all covenants and limitations herein contained, at a price not lower than that at which it was offered to the Company.

**(R. p. 1105).**

Bittmint and Sellers were aware of Sea Pines’ right of first refusal—the right was discussed during the Contract for Sale’s negotiations and Bittmint previously requested that Sea Pines waive its right of first refusal when Bittmint purchased an adjacent unit to the Property less than a year prior. **(R. p. 862:16-21; p. 872:6-11).**<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup>The right of first refusal was originally established by Lighthouse Beach Company in real property covenants titled “Commercial Use Covenants,” recorded in Book 206, at page 1143 of the Beaufort County Register of Deeds. **(R. pp. 1095-112).** Lighthouse Beach Company recorded the Commercial Use Covenants in 1973. **(R. p. 1112).** The Commercial Use Covenants’ defined terms extended the rights granted therein to include Lighthouse Beach Company, “its successors and assigns.” **(R. p. 1096).**

Lighthouse Beach Company’s right was assigned to Sea Pines Plantation Company, as documented in an instrument recorded in 1977. **(R. pp. 1113-15).** The subsequent instruments, agreements, and court orders showing the transfer of the right of first refusal to Sea Pines can be found as attachments to Steve Birdwell’s affidavit, which was previously submitted to the trial court. **(R. pp. 158-231).** The specific trail of assignment was not an issue at trial, and Bittmint did not admit those documents into evidence or challenge their validity.

<sup>4</sup> See **(R. pp. 811:7-812:23; p. 813:11-18; p. 911:10-20)** (noting that Bittmint’s members, Amir Bitton and Alon Mintz, knew of Sea Pines right of first refusal); **(R. p. 812:1-10; p. 878:1-6)** (noting that when Bittmint purchased the unit adjacent to the Property, Bittmint requested that Sea Pines waive their right of first refusal).

Pursuant to the Contract for Sale, drafted by Bittmint’s attorney, Michael Mogil (“Mogil”), dated March 17, 2017, Sellers were required to “obtain all appropriate waivers and approvals from Sea Pines . . . within thirty (30) days from the date of execution hereof.” (R. p. 1152, at ¶ 6); (R. pp. 925:16-926:3); (R. p. 1153). The Contract for Sale also notes that possession of the Property would not occur until a date *after* “all relevant waivers and approvals” were obtained. (R. p. 1152, at ¶ 7). However, after signing the Contract for Sale, Bittmint agreed it would be the party responsible for receiving a waiver of Sea Pines’ right of first refusal. (R. p. 897:19-23).<sup>5</sup> Accordingly, Mogil submitted a written waiver request to Sea Pines dated April 13, 2017. (R. p. 1282); (R. pp. 849:16-850:22). That waiver request also included a separate offer by Bittmint to Sea Pines to purchase the Property:

The above referenced property is hereby offered for sale to the company pursuant to the same terms & price contained in the current contract of sale with the bona fide purchaser(s) referenced above. **It is hereby understood by all parties that the company has thirty (30) business days from receipt of this offer in which to determine its re-purchase option.**

(R. p. 1282) (emphasis added). Four (4) days later, Mogil provided written notice of the terms of the proposed sale, as required by the 1973 Covenants establishing Sea Pines’ right of first refusal, by sending Sea Pines the Contract for Sale. (R. p. 836:4-5; p. 853:11-17). Sea Pines then notified Bittmint on May 2, 2017, that it had decided to exercise its right of first refusal and would purchase the Property. (R. p. 844:7-8; pp. 934:24-936:12); (R. pp. 1164). Bittmint filed a notice of lis pendens and, on May 26, 2017, initiated this lawsuit. (R. pp. 49-50); (R. pp. 53-63); (R. pp. 949:25-950:1).

---

<sup>5</sup> At trial, Bittmint’s member, Mintz, testified that Bittmint agreed that they would be responsible for receiving the waiver.

## **II. Procedural History**

Bittmint filed its Complaint alleging various causes of action against Petitioners. **(R. pp. 53-60)**. Petitioners answered the Complaint on July 27, 2017. **(R. pp. 64-68); (R. pp. 69-74)**. The circuit court referred the nonjury case to the master in equity, by order dated June 20, 2018. **(R. pp. 45-46)**. Bittmint then amended its Complaint twice: (1) once on October 31, 2018, adding Harbour Town Surf Shop, LLC (“Surf Shop”) (together, with Bittmint, “Respondents”) as a Plaintiff and bringing four new causes action against the Petitioners, jointly and individually; and (2) once on December 19, 2018, adding a new cause of action against Sea Pines. **(R. pp. 75-87); (R. pp. 90-107)**. After Petitioners timely answered Respondents’ Second Amended Complaint, Bittmint demanded a jury trial on December 26, 2018. **(R. pp. 109-17); (R. pp. 118-27); (R. p. 108)**. The Master in Equity vacated the reference and transferred the case to the circuit court’s jury roster by order dated February 6, 2019 **(R. pp. 47- 48)**.

Both Petitioners and Respondents filed motions for summary judgment, which were denied by the circuit court via a Form 4 order dated January 13, 2020. **(R. pp. 148-50); (R. pp. 151-57); (R. pp. 39-41)** (denying Respondents’ motion for summary judgment); **(R. pp. 42-44)** (denying Petitioners’ motion for summary judgment). Petitioners also filed a motion for partial summary judgment after Bittmint conceded that three of its causes of action “may not be actionable claims under South Carolina law,” but the circuit court denied Petitioners’ motion by Form 4 order dated January 20, 2022. **(R. p. 243, at n.6); (R. pp. 257-58); (R. pp. 33-35)**. The case proceeded to trial before a jury on Monday, February 28, 2022.

As discussed in more detail below, Bittmint failed to submit at trial any proof that Sea Pines does not hold the right of first refusal that it exercised to purchase the Property. In fact, the only evidence at trial was that Sea Pines held the right and acted timely in exercising its right

of first refusal upon receiving the Contract for Sale's terms from Bittmint. **(R. pp. 811:7-812:23; p. 813:11-18; p. 911:10-20); (R. p. 818:4-25; p. 848:4-12); (R. p. 862:16-21; p. 872:6-11); (R. pp. 1010:19-1011:17)**. Bittmint rested its case on Wednesday, March 2, 2022. **(R. p. 1030:10-12)**.

After Bittmint closed its case in chief without putting up evidence to substantiate all the elements of its claims, Petitioners moved for a directed verdict on all causes of action **(R. pp. 1030:20-1039:16)**. The Court granted the motion as to all claims. **(R. pp. 1048:18-1066:15)**. Bittmint filed a post-trial motion to reconsider, which was denied after a hearing held on May 18, 2022. **(R. pp. 455-79); (R. pp. 7-9); (R. pp. 1068-92)**.<sup>6</sup> Respondents filed their Notice of Appeal on June 22, 2022. **(Notice of Appeal, filed June 22, 2025)**.

The Court of Appeals reversed the circuit court's grant of directed verdict to Petitioners, deciding there were two factual issues the circuit court should have submitted to the jury: (1) whether Sea Pines possessed an enforceable right of first refusal over the subject Property, and (2) whether Sea Pines exercised its right within thirty (30) days of receiving written notice of the price and terms of the Contract for Sale to Bittmint, as required by the 1973 Covenants containing the right of first refusal. See Bittmint, LLC v. Johnson, No. 2025-UP-273 (the "Opinion").

Petitioners filed a petition for rehearing on August 29, 2025. **(Pet'rs' Pet. for Reh'g, filed Aug. 29, 2025)**. The Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing by order dated December 18, 2025. **(Order Den. Pet'rs' Pet. for Reh'g, filed Dec. 18, 2025)**.

---

<sup>6</sup> Sellers filed a post-trial motion seeking an award of attorney's fees expended in their defense of Bittmint's claims. **(R. pp. 674-81); (R. pp. 686-89)**. After the hearing on post-trial motions, the Court granted the motion and awarded \$96,614.25 in attorney's fees and \$7,004.39 in court costs, for a total amount of \$103,618.64. **(R. pp. 4-6)**.

### **APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD**

This Court grants certiorari in its discretion when “special and important reasons” warrant this Court’s discretionary intervention. Rule 242(b), SCACR. Such review is particularly warranted where, as here, the decision below conflicts with controlling precedent of this Court. Rule 242(b)(3), SCACR. Specifically, the decision conflicts with leagues of prior decisions that require evidence to create a factual issue for the jury, rather than simply speculation or the raising of a question without supporting proof of a party’s position.

“A directed verdict should be granted where the evidence raises no issue for the jury as to the defendant's liability.” Guffey v. Columbia/Colleton Reg'l Hosp., Inc., 364 S.C. 158, 163, 612 S.E.2d 695, 697 (2005). “When reviewing the trial court’s ruling on a motion for a directed verdict . . . this Court must apply the same standard as the trial court by viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Garrison v. Target Corp., 435 S.C. 566, 576, 869 S.E.2d 797, 803 (2022) (quotation omitted). The Court “cannot ignore facts unfavorable to [the nonmoving] party and . . . must determine whether a verdict for the party opposing the motion would be reasonably possible under the facts.” Bloom v. Ravoira, 339 S.C. 417, 423, 529 S.E.2d 710, 713 (2000) (quoting Hopson v. Clary, 321 S.C. 312, 314, 468 S.E.2d 305, 307 (Ct. App. 1996)). “In deciding such motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has the authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or the evidence.” RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P., 399 S.C. 322, 332, 732 S.E.2d 166, 171 (2012).

“On review, an appellate court will affirm the granting of a directed verdict in favor of the defendant when there is no evidence on any one element of the alleged cause of action.” Fletcher

v. Med. Univ. of S.C., 390 S.C. 458, 462, 702 S.E.2d 372, 374 (Ct. App. 2010) (citing Guffey, 364 S.C. at 163, 612 S.E.2d at 697).

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The Court of Appeals erred in holding that there was more than one reasonable inference as to whether Sea Pines had an enforceable right of first refusal because there was no conflicting evidence presented at trial, and the only evidence showed that Sea Pines possessed such a right.**

Directed verdicts are improper and warrant reversal when there is “no evidence” to support a ruling. Garrison, 435 S.C. at 576, 869 S.E.2d at 803. Courts are not required to submit speculative, theoretical, or hypothetical views to the jury. In reversing the trial court’s grant of directed verdict, the Court of Appeals mentioned testimony from Bittmint’s attorney, Michael Mogil, and communications between Mogil and attorneys for Sea Pines and the Sellers, Petitioners Johnson and Giannone. **(Opinion at 11).**

Before turning to the substance of his testimony, it is important to note that prior to Mogil’s trial testimony, the circuit court explicitly prohibited Mogil from offering any opinion about the enforceability of the 1973 Covenants or their applicability to the subject Property. In fact, when Petitioners objected to Mogil offering opinions about the 1973 Covenants, Bittmint assured the court before Mogil’s testimony began that he would not testify to any legal conclusions. **(R. pp. 920:20-921:3)**. When Bittmint nevertheless attempted to elicit Mogil’s opinion on whether the 1973 Covenants applied to the Property, the trial court sustained Petitioners’ prompt objection and unequivocally ruled: “Well, he’s not an expert, so he can’t give his opinion.” **(R. pp. 939:20-940:16)**. Mogil complied with this ruling, offering no opinion on the issues of the 1973 Covenants’ enforceability or applicability, even when Respondents’ trial counsel repeatedly attempted to elicit such testimony despite the court’s exclusion of such opinions and the sustained objections. **(R. p. 920: 16-25; p. 921:1-3; pp. 939:20-940:16; pp. 945:22-946:21; pp. 960:18-961:1)**.

The trial court's ruling was entirely proper. Mogil had not been disclosed as an expert witness and had previously testified under oath during his deposition that he would not "discuss the enforceability or applicability of the covenants" at trial. (**R. pp. 945:22-946:21**). Bittmint did not appeal the lower court's ruling prohibiting him from rendering opinions.

To elevate Mogil's generalized reflection that there were "issues" about the right of first refusal to creating a genuine factual dispute about the enforceability or applicability of Sea Pines' right of first refusal, nevertheless, effectively permits trial by ambush and undermines the circuit court's essential role as gatekeeper of expert testimony. See generally, *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 174 (2010) ("[T]he trial court serves as the gatekeeper and must decide whether the evidence submitted by a party is admissible pursuant to the Rules of Evidence as a matter of law."). This type of litigation gamesmanship has historically been discouraged by our courts.

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