RECEIVED

Feb 19 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2017-CP-07-01057
Ct. App. Case No. 2022-000867

Sup. Ct. Case No. 2026-000117

Bittmint LLC and Harbour Town Surf Shop LLC.....Respondents,

v.

Lynda H. Johnson, Charles S. Giannone, and Sea Pines Resort, LLC,
.....Petitioners.

**RESPONDENTS' RETURN
TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

FORD WALLACE THOMSON LLC
Ainsley F. Tillman
Ian S. Ford
715 King Street
Charleston, South Carolina 29403
(843) 277-2011
Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly held that that the trial court improperly weighed and decided disputed facts when it granted directed verdict mid-way through this jury trial.⁵

I. The Opinion is right: the facts, evidence, and inferences to be drawn from it, including the disputed facts asserted in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, were for the jury.

Petitioners' argument in Issue I of its Petition ignores reams of testimony and exhibits to claim there was "no conflicting evidence" mid-way through this jury trial. Petitioners' argument requires this Court to ignore Plaintiffs' case entirely and presume as a matter of fact and law that defendants' affirmative defenses would be utterly impervious (although they had not yet been presented). The purported right of first refusal was Petitioners' *defense* to Plaintiffs' case, yet Petitioners argue that the Resort's verbal claim to hold such a right is an absolute truth, which the Respondents were obligated to anticipatorily *disprove*, even before the Resort put on its defense or introduced documentary evidence that it possesses a

⁵ For the reasons herein, and in the Opinion, and in Bittmint's appellate briefs to the Court of Appeals, this Court should deny Petitioners' Petition for a Writ of Certiorari because the Opinion correctly reversed directed verdict. However, if this Court is inclined to hear this case, Bittmint respectfully requests that it hear and rule on the questions of law that were Issues II and IV on appeal, and hold that the alleged right of first refusal is void as an unreasonable restraint on the alienation of real property and nontransferable as a matter of law, as argued in Appellants' briefs to the Court of Appeals.

real property preemptive right.⁶ But, that is not how a trial works, and Petitioners' argument is emblematic of why directed verdict at the close of Plaintiffs' evidence was improper.

Petitioners ignore all other testimony and exhibits and dwell solely on the testimony of closing attorney Michael Mogil, dissonantly arguing that, in the midst of a *factual* dispute, Mogil was not "disclosed or qualified" as an expert on the law, and so therefore he could not "testify to any legal conclusions;" thus, Petitioners assert, Mogil's testimony was somehow insufficient to raise a question of fact as to the Resort's purported right of first refusal. (Pet. pp. 9-13). This argument by Petitioners ignores that Mogil could – *and did* – testify on the facts, and his purported "legal conclusions," which the Petition acknowledges he did not even provide, are immaterial to the evidence and inferences about the disputed fact of possession of the right.

A. The conflicting evidence mid-way through trial made directed verdict improper.

The Opinion correctly found that during its case in chief Bittmint introduced ample evidence to support its claims and thus survive directed verdict, presenting evidence sufficient for a jury to find on behalf of plaintiffs: (1) Bittmint had a Sale Contract with Respondent Sellers to purchase the Surf Shop Property; (2) Sellers did not sell the property to Bittmint, in breach of the Sale Contract; (3) Sellers instead wrongly conveyed the property

⁶ Throughout this case, Petitioners have wrongly insisted Bittmint must prove the negative: that the Resort does **not** have a right of first refusal. This is backwards – it is the Resort's burden to prove that it *does* possess the right, which it had failed to do, mid-way through this jury trial. See *State v. Lee*, 653 S.E.2d 259, 375 S.C. 394 (2007) (Toal, J., dissent) ("No Court may justifiably ask a litigant to prove a negative."); *Anderson Armored Car Service, Inc. v. South Carolina Public Service Com'n*, 367 S.E.2d 444, 295 S.C. 148 (Ct. App. 1987) ("the quoted language plainly requires the intervenor to prove the affirmative; it does not remotely suggest the applicant must prove the negative."); *Bennett v. Sandifer*, 15 S.C. 418 (1881) ("upon the universal principle that . . . no one can be required to prove a negative."). That said, Bittmint certainly argued that the preemptive right was invalid as a matter of law. However, the trial judge held it was a fact question for the jury . . . and then improperly decided the fact question himself.

to the Resort, in breach of the contract;⁷ (4) Resort knew about and procured the breach of the Sale Contract;⁸ and (5) Bittmint thus lost the benefit of its bargain, \$500/month in rent from an existing tenant,⁹ as well as the Surf Shop Property itself. This evidence—which was developed over the course of several days of testimony and multiple exhibits, and which is only summarized here—was entirely sufficient to create jury questions on Plaintiffs’ claims. *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel*, 374 S.C. 483, 649 S.E.2d 494 (Ct. App. 2007) (“In deciding whether to grant or deny a directed verdict motion, the court is concerned only with the existence or nonexistence of evidence.”). “The trial court must deny [a directed verdict] motion when the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt. If the evidence as a whole is susceptible to more than one reasonable inference, a jury issue is created and the motion should be denied.” *Id.*

But the trial judge’s directed verdict—like the Petitioners’ arguments to this Court—skipped over the question of whether there was evidence for the jury on Plaintiffs’ claims, and instead rested on the faulty notion that the Resort’s affirmative defense, its purported right of first refusal, is a veritable presumption that Appellants failed to rebut, in advance of any evidence on it. This idea was wrongly based on the trial judge’s (incorrect, unproven, and erroneous) belief that **the Resort “can do whatever the heck they want over here because they are the developer and they can create any covenant they want.”** (R. p. 1059-1061) (emphasis added) (ruling that the Resort has a right of first refusal, “[s]o your appeal

⁷ For Record citations to this evidence, please see Appellants’ Final Brief, including its Statement of the Facts and Issue III.

⁸ For Record citations to this evidence, please see Appellants’ Final Brief, including its Statement of the Facts and Issue III.

⁹ See also, R. pp. 799: 19 – 800; 211: 11-216. For additional discussion on evidence of damages, please see Appellants Reply Brief, Section IV.

will be based on that.”). Within the trial transcript, in the pages following this initial holding, the trial judge went on to grant directed verdict on each cause of action, for the repeated reason that “They exercised their right of first refusal.” (R. pp. 1063-1066). The Opinion correctly reversed the trial court’s rulings, which were unclear, illogical, and improperly fact-laden on directed verdict.

Ignoring days of testimony and pages of exhibits, the Petitioners now announce in their Petition that the “only evidence at trial” showed that the Resort proved its affirmative defense—that it holds (*habendum*) and can exercise a right of first refusal—before even putting on its defense and without introducing a chain of title showing it possessed a real property right. However, as the Opinion correctly catalogues, *the Resort’s own witness, as well as the Resort’s real estate lawyer, gave inconsistent and confused answers about the source of the purported right*, and Bittmint’s members testified they did not know the Resort had a right of first refusal, because one had not come into play in a similar sale a few years earlier. (Op. at 4-7). The jury could have inferred from this testimony that the Resort did not (in fact) possess the alleged right. Likewise, the jury could have inferred the same from Bittmint’s testimony, as well as from the email exhibits in which questions about the right’s existence are discussed, or even from looking at the Resort’s Waiver Form.¹⁰ (*See also*, R. pp.

¹⁰ The Resort testified at trial, “Well, our right of first refusal is documented in several different -- you know, of the legal documents and the right is spelled out in several different sets of covenants.” (R. p. 967: 16-19). In contrast, when asked about the alleged right, Bittmint testified, “No. To be honest, we didn’t know it exist.” (R. p. 786: 3-20). Mogil testified, “I didn’t agree with [Resort’s claim to have the right of first refusal] and then I filed what’s called a *lis pendens*,” (R. p. 947:18-20), and “I looked at everything that Mr. Frazier referenced me to [about the alleged right], I just didn’t agree.” (R. p. 948:1-4). Meanwhile, the Resort produced no deed or document evidencing its claim to be a successor or assign of Lighthouse Beach Company. **The evidence within this footnote alone, taken in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs, implicates questions of fact for the jury on the purported right.** At this phase of trial, at the close of plaintiffs’ case in chief, a reasonable jury could have decided from Plaintiffs’ evidence that Defendants breached their contract/interfered with the purchase. “Essentially, this court must resolve whether it would be reasonably conceivable to have a verdict for a party opposing the [directed verdict] motion under the facts as liberally construed in the opposing party’s favor.” *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries*, 649 S.E.2d at 494.

1164-68). “In ruling on a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is required to view the evidence and the inferences which reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion and to deny the motion where either the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt.” *Harvey v. Strickland*, 350 S.C. 303, 308-309, 566 S.E.2d 529 (2002). The Opinion correctly applied this standard and reversed directed verdict. This Court has no need to review the Opinion.

B. Petitioners’ arguments about Mogil’s testimony are a red herring.

The Petition focuses overmuch on only one piece of evidence: the testimony of attorney Michael Mogil. Petitioners argue that because Mogil was not “disclosed or qualified as an expert” to give opinions on the law, he therefore could not “testify to any legal conclusions;” thus, Petitioners say, Mogil’s testimony was somehow insufficient to raise a question of fact as to the Resort’s purported right of first refusal. (Pet. at 9-13). This is so, argue Petitioners, because “[Mogil] offered no facts contradicting the clear and unambiguous terms of the right of first refusal in the 1973 Covenants that would create a jury issue as to whether the right existed. . . .” (Pet. at 11).

Petitioners’ argument simply does not make sense. Mogil testified on the facts, not on the law, including how the Resort’s interference with the real estate transaction unfolded. His testimony (along with other evidence) supports the *factual inferences* that the Resort’s bald, unsupported claim to possess the right is not credible, and that the Resort does not actually possess the right of first refusal that it claimed it could exercise.

Whether the Resort possesses a right of first refusal over the Surf Shop property is a question of fact—and it was the Resort’s burden to prove its possession with a chain of title, not Bittmint’s. “A trial court should submit to the jury the issue of existence of a contract

when its existence is questioned and the evidence is either conflicting or admits of more than one inference.” *Small v. Springs Industries, Inc.*, 292 S.C. 481, 357 S.E.2d 452 (1986); *see also Jowers v. Hornsby*, 292 S.C. 549, 357 S.E.2d 710 (1987) (the determination of the existence of an easement is a question of fact for the trier of fact).

It was unnecessary for Mogil to give expert testimony on the law, at all, when it came to the factual question of whether the Resort actually possesses a preemptive right of first refusal over the Surf Shop Property – particularly when the only evidence that the Resort had put forward (mid-way through trial) was its own xeroxed “Waiver Form” that it hands out to real estate agents on Hilton Head Island.

The Petition wrongly focuses on the question of whether the right of first refusal (if it in fact belongs to the Resort) is legally valid and enforceable, which is a question of law that the Court of Appeals declined to decide.¹¹ The Petition argues that “Mogil offered no opinion [contradicting the enforceability of the 1973 Covenants] . . . [t]hus, no reasonable inference – or any inference at all – regarding the validity or applicability of the right could be drawn from Mogil’s testimony.” (Pet. at 11). This is an inapposite argument: the question for the jury was whether the Resort *possessed* the right as a matter of fact – not whether it was valid or legally enforceable – and Mogil’s testimony supported the factual inference that the Resort did not possess a right of first refusal over the Surf Shop Property.

Among other things, as the Court of Appeals’ Opinion found, Mogil testified about his communications with the Resort’s attorney, in which he asked the attorney, repeatedly, to show him that the Resort possessed a right of first refusal. The Resort couldn’t do it. After

¹¹ For all the reasons why the alleged preemptive right is invalid and unenforceable, as a matter of law, please see Bittmint’s briefing to the Court of Appeals.

reviewing the Resort’s email responses, Mogil stated, “I do not find any rights of first refusal which apply to the commercial area of Sea Pines” and then, “I probably asked for more information or evidence that these generalized covenants from 40 or 50 years ago applied to this transaction;” and “I didn’t agree with [the Resort’s lawyer] and then I filed what’s called a *lis pendens* . . . I looked at everything that [the Resort’s lawyer] referenced me to, I just didn’t agree. . . I asked [the Sellers’ lawyer] not to close, saying we thought it was a breach of contract for her clients, to sell to Sea Pines instead of my clients.” (R. pp. 935-49; 1164-69). As the Opinion rightly held, the jury absolutely could have inferred from this factual testimony—in addition to all the other evidence—that the Resort does not possess a preemptive right over the Surf Shop Property.

Ultimately, Petitioners’ argument about Mogil’s legal opinion has no bearing whatsoever on the correctness of the Opinion. The Opinion does not decide, one way or the other, whether the alleged right was valid or enforceable as a matter of law; it decides only that the trial testimony and evidence, taken as a whole, implicated questions of fact for the jury which made directed verdict improper.¹² No expert opinion on the *law* was necessary to implicate this factual dispute. This Court should deny the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari.

II. The conflicting evidence on the exercise of an ambiguous preemptive right (*arguendo*, if the Resort holds it, and *arguendo* if it is not void) made directed verdict improper.

Petitioners’ arguments in Issue II (Petition, pp. 14-17) again wrongly require the Court to presume as a matter of fact and law that the Resort holds (*habendum*) a real property

¹² The enforceability and transferability of the right, which were Issues II and IV on appeal, are separate questions of law which the Court of Appeals declined to decide. But the answers would obviate much of this factual discussion. A vague, non-transferable, indefinite, generalized preemptive right over undefined property “on Hilton Head Island” is an unreasonable restraint on the alienation of real property as a matter of law, and if this Court hears this case, it should strike the purported right as void *ab initio*.

preemptive right over the Surf Shop Property. It also requires this Court to presume that the right is not void as an unreasonable restraint on the alienation of real property. However, stepping into a realm where Petitioners' presumptions are true, *arguendo*, this Court should nonetheless reject Petitioners' fact-intensive arguments, which urge this Court to take all the evidence, testimony, and inferences in the light most favorable to Petitioners (the moving party), while ignoring conflicting evidence and credibility issues. This is the opposite of how the directed verdict standard works. The Opinion correctly applied the standard and reversed directed verdict because of conflicting evidence, credibility questions, and factual inferences – all of which are the sole province of the jury.

A. The 1973 Declaration is ambiguous and internally conflicting on what might be required to exercise the purported preemptive right. Yet, a reasonable jury could have found that notice of the offer price is the trigger.

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